
 
 
 
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk 
Direct line: 01403 215465 

222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Standards Committee 
 
Wednesday, 15th June, 2022 at 10.00 am 
Conference Room, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham 
 
Councillors:   

  
 Peter Burgess 

Joan Grech 
Kate Rowbottom 
David Skipp 
 

Diana van der Klugt 
Belinda Walters 
Tricia Youtan 
 

Co-opted advisory members 
 John Donaldson Independent Person 
 Michael Rumble Independent Person 
 Philip Baxter Parish Council Representative 
 Stephen Watkins Parish Council Representative 
 
You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business 

 
Jane Eaton 

Chief Executive 
Agenda 
 

   
Page No. 

 
1.   Election of Chairman 

 
 

 
2.   Apologies for absence 

 
 

 
3.   Appointment of Vice-Chairman 

 
 

 
4.   To approve the time of meetings of the Committee for the ensuing year 

 
 

 
5.   Minutes 3 - 4 
 To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022  

(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they 
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24 
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the meeting 
will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.) 
 

 

 
6.   Declarations of Members' Interests  
 To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL 
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded)   Horsham.gov.uk   Chief Executive – Jane Eaton 
 

2

7.   Announcements  
 To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee, the Chief 

Executive or the Monitoring Officer 
 
 

 

 
8.   Update on review and support  for Steyning Parish Council  
 To consider a verbal report of the Monitoring Officer in relation to an update on 

the review and support for Steyning Parish Council from Hoey Ainscough 
Associates Ltd. 
 
 

 

 
9.   Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities of Governments 

response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life's review of Local 
Government Ethical Standards published in January 2019. 

5 - 16 

 To consider a report from the Head of Legal & Democratic Services & 
Monitoring Officer to update Members on the response of the Government to 
the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s (“CSPL”) review of Local 
Government Ethical Standards published in January 2019. 
 
 

 

 
10.   Standards Update  
 To receive an update from the Monitoring Officer 

 
 

 

 
11.   Urgent Business  
 Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion 

should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances 
 

 



 
1 

Standards Committee 
16 MARCH 2022 

 
 

Present: Councillors: Brian Donnelly (Chairman), Diana van der Klugt (Vice-
Chairman), Karen Burgess, Lynn Lambert, David Skipp and 
Belinda Walters 
 
Independent Persons: John Donaldson and Michael Rumble 
 

Apologies: Parish Representatives: Philip Baxter, Stephen Watkins 
 

   
SC/22   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 December were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
  

SC/23   DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
  

SC/24   ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
There were no announcements. 
  

SC/25   MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT - PARISH COUNCIL UPDATE 
 
The Monitoring Officer updated Members on the adoption of the Local 
Government Association’s Model Code of Conduct for Parish and 
Neighbourhood councils within the district. 
 
Following the adoption by Horsham District Council of the amended Code of 
Conduct in December 2021, the Parish and Neighbourhood councils had been 
invited to also adopt the code. 
 
By adopting a national code it would ensure that Horsham District Council, 
Parish and Neighbourhood Councils were adhering to the same code of 
conduct, providing clarity, a consistent approach and precedence for Standards 
Code of Conduct cases across the district. It would also enable relevant training 
to take place. 
 
The committee were informed there had been an extremely positive uptake of 
the new code.  
 
30 out of 32 Parish Councils had adopted the code in-line with Horsham District 
Council with some specific localised amendments. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 Standards Committee 
16 March 2022 

 
2

The three Neighbourhood councils were in the process of amending their code. 
This was in consultation with Horsham District Council to address their specific 
status and unique requirements. 
 
The Committee noted the contents of the report, thanked all Officers and 
Members involved in the new Code of Conduct and the success of adoption 
with Parish and Neighbourhood Councils. 
  

SC/26   STEYNING PARISH COUNCIL 
 
The Monitoring Officer updated the committee on the historical, current and 
ongoing difficulties at Steyning Parish Council.  
 
Over a number of years there had been a vast number of code of conduct 
complaints received regarding Steyning Parish Council.  
 
8 code of conduct complaints against Steyning Councillors were received in 
2019, 15 complaints in 2019 and 26 complaints in 2021.  
 
Over the last three years the position and behaviour had deteriorated with over 
70% of the total code of conduct complaints received by Horsham District 
Council related to Steyning. The estimated cost of dealing with Steyning 
complaints alone was in the region of £65 000 per annum. 
 
It was proposed that alternative action was required in dealing with deteriorating 
relations within Steyning Parish Council, and resolve issues which ultimately 
would result in better behaviours and less Code of Conduct complaints in the 
future. 
 
Consideration was given to whether specialist experts Hoey Ainscough 
Associates Ltd should review and provide support to Steyning Parish Council to 
provide an action plan for the future. 
 
A recommendation was also required to consider if any further action should be 
taken on outstanding pending complaints from Steyning Parish Council. 
 
The Monitoring Officer advised the Committee that the aim of the review was to 
directly offer support, address underlying issues and improve the Parish Council 
moving forward. Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd would issue a full report of 
their findings and recommendations which would be published. 
 
Members were advised the Consultants had suggested that all outstanding and 
pending standards complaints relating to Steyning Parish Council were halted 
and a line drawn whilst the review and support took place.  
 
Should further action be required in the future, the Code of Conduct procedure 
adopted by Horsham District Council would enable those complaints to be re-
considered. 
 

Page 4



Standards Committee 
16 March 2022 

3 

 
3

Members were supportive of the proposals, wanted difficulties resolved and 
solutions put in place to move forward. It was discussed that Steyning Parish 
Council must accept the Consultant’s report and work with any 
recommendations.  
 
Members accepted the need for Consultants, felt the Council had provided as 
much support as possible already to Steyning Parish Council and had no other 
recourse to stop the long running issues. 
 
It was noted that Council would need to approve the budget for review. 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That the Committee resolved:  
 

i) To approve that the Monitoring Officer instructs Hoey Ainscough 
Associates Ltd to undertake a review of Steyning Parish Council and 
to provide support for Steyning Parish Council. 
 
 

ii) To approve that no further action will be taken in relation to any of the 
outstanding complaints pending this alternative resolution. 

 
 

iii) To recommend to full Council approval of a budget sum of £20 000 for 
Hoey Ainscough Associates Ltd to conduct the Steyning Parish 
Council review. 

  
SC/27   STANDARDS UPDATE 

 
The Legal Services Business Manager reported that the highest number of 
complaints had been received by the Council during this financial year.  
32 code of conduct cases have been received so far, 26 related to Steyning 
Parish Council and 6 other cases. 3 cases related to Horsham District 
Councillors, 2 to West Chiltington Parish Council and 1 related to Henfield 
Parish Council.  
All matters, other than the Steyning Parish Council complaints have been dealt 
with and there has been no requirement for further investigation. 
  

SC/28   URGENT BUSINESS 
 
There was no urgent business. 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 12.25 pm having commenced at 10.00 am 
 
 

 
CHAIRMAN

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Report to Standards Committee  

 Wednesday 15th June 2022 
 By Sharon Evans, Head of Legal & Democratic 

Services & Monitoring Officer 
 

 INFORMATION REPORT 
 

 Not Exempt  
 

 

 

Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities of Governments 
response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s review of 
Local Government Ethical Standards published in January 2019 

Executive Summary 
 
The Council has determined that the Standards Committee shall be responsible for 
receiving and considering reports on matters of probity and ethics. 
 
The purpose of this report is to update Members on the response of the Government to the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life’s review of Local Government Ethical Standards 
published in January 2019. 
 
Back in March we were notified of the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & 
Communities of Government’s response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life’s 
review of Local Government Ethical Standards published in January 2019, which we had 
been patiently waiting for. 

Recommendations 
  
The Committee is recommended to note the contents of the report. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations  
 
i) To ensure that the Committee is kept informed as to the position and developments  

with regards to changes of legislation and or current practice in the way Standards 
for Councillors are dealt with by Horsham District Council, acting as the principal 
authority.  

Background Papers 

The Localism Act 2011 
 

Wards affected: All 

Contact: Sharon Evans, Head of Legal & Democratic Services & Monitoring Officer 
sharon.evans@horsham.gov.uk Telephone 01403 215538 

Page 7

Agenda Item 9

mailto:sharon.evans@horsham.gov.uk


 

Background Information 

1 Introduction and Background 

1.1 The Committee on Standards in Public Life (the “CSPL”) was established in 1994 
and is responsible for promoting the Seven Principles of Public Life: selflessness, 
integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership – commonly 
known as the Nolan Principles.   

 
1.2 The Committee, the CSPL, conducted a review of Local Government Ethical 

Standards. They highlighted recommendations and identified best practice to 
improve ethical standards in local government and these recommendations were 
made to Government.  The Standards Committee has eagerly awaited the 
Government’s response.  

 

2 Relevant Council policy 

2.1 The statutory background can be found in the Localism Act 2011. 

3 Details 

3.1 The Committee on Standards in Public Life, CSPL, conducted a review of Local 
Government Ethical Standards back in 2019. 

 
The full report, which runs to 108 pages and is therefore not attached, can be 
accessed here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-
public-life 

 
3.2 The terms of reference for the CSPL’s review were to: 

3.2.1 Examine the structures, processes and practices in local government in 
England for: 
a. Maintaining codes of conduct for local councillors 
b. Investigating alleged breaches fairly and with due process 
c. Enforcing codes and imposing sanctions for misconduct 
d. Declaring interests and managing conflicts of interest 
e. Whistleblowing 
 

3.2.2 Assess whether the existing structures, processes and practices are 
conducive to high standards of conduct in local government 
 

3.2.3.  Make any recommendations for how they can be improved 
 
3.2.4   Note any evidence of intimidation of councillors, and make 

recommendations for any measures that could be put in place to 
prevent and address such intimidation. 

 
 
3.3 High standards of conduct in local government are needed to protect 

Page 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life


 

the integrity of decision-making, maintain public confidence, and safeguard 
local democracy. 

 
3.4 The evidence received by the CSPL supported the view that the vast majority of 

councillors and officers maintain high standards of conduct. There was, 
however, clear evidence of misconduct by some councillors. The majority of 
these cases relate to bullying or harassment, or other disruptive behaviour. 
There was also evidence of persistent or repeated misconduct by a minority of 
Councillors. 

 
3.5 The recommendations were made to government and to specific groups of public 

office-holders and these recommendations included a number of changes to 
primary legislation, including the introduction of the right to suspend a member for 
up to 6 months, all of which would have been subject to Parliamentary timetabling; 
but also to secondary legislation and the Local Government Transparency Code, 
which the CSPL indicated could have been implemented more swiftly. The 
government was given a period of 3 months in which to formally respond to the 
CSPL recommendations. 

 
3.6 Various events such as Brexit and the Covid Pandemic delayed the government 

response and it has been with bated breath that the Standards Committee has 
awaited their response and feedback. 

 
3.7 Unfortunately the response has been a long time in waiting and now here, it reads 

as highly disappointing. It was hoped that tougher sanctions would be made 
available in order to act as a deterrent and ultimately minimise the misconduct 
complained of. The government responded by saying, ‘The number of requests for 
legislation in the Committee’s recommendations to strengthen the standards and 
conduct framework and its safeguards was considerable. As indicated in this 
response, the Government believes that some of these suggestions do not need a 
legislative response but can be more appropriately, effectively, and swiftly taken 
forward by local authorities as best practice.  The Committee will recognise that the 
Government and Parliament has taken a different view on these matters when it 
legislated for the Localism Act 2011’.  The Committee was thanked for their work on 
the review and for their patience whilst Government carefully considered their 
recommendations. 

 
3.8 The Government response confines itself to the Committee’s recommendations 

directed at Government, other than with regards to the first recommendation. The 
response to recommendations 10, 12, 13, 14 and 16 have been grouped together 
and therefore appear out of numerical order below.  You will note that the 
government has agreed to very few of the recommendations although on a positive 
note there is a decision to keep various recommendations under review. 

 
3.9 Recommendation 1  
 The Local Government Association should create an updated model code of 

conduct, in consultation with representative bodies of councillors and 
officers of all tiers of local government.  

 
 The Localism Act 2011 states that relevant authorities must promote and maintain 

high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members. It requires these 
authorities to adopt a code of conduct for their councillors. Authorities can 

Page 9



 

determine the content of their own code of conduct. However, codes must conform 
to the seven ‘Nolan’ principles of standards in public life: selflessness, integrity, 
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership. Relevant authorities 
for the purposes of these requirements include local authorities in England, namely 
county councils, district councils, London borough councils and parish and town 
councils. It is for individual councils to set their own local code, in line with the Act. 
The Government has previously published a light-touch illustrative code of conduct. 
The Local Government Association has worked with sector representative bodies to 
update its own suggested code of conduct, with the intention that this new 
suggested code could establish a consistent benchmark that local authorities can 
amend or add to as they see fit to reflect local circumstances and priorities.  

  
 The Local Government Association published the updated code of conduct in 

January 2021. However, it remains a local decision on whether this model code is 
adopted. 

 
 
3.10 Recommendation 2  
 The government should ensure that candidates standing for or accepting 

public offices are not required publicly to disclose their home address. The 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 
should be amended to clarify that a councillor does not need to register their 
home address on an authority’s register of interests.  

 
 This issue was brought up in the Committee’s work on intimidation in public life, and 

the Government has already taken forward several steps in this regard. The 
Government is open and receptive to further steps to help prevent intimidation.  

 
 The Government agrees with the principle behind this recommendation – which 

safeguards elected representatives - and considers amending the Relevant 
Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 would be an option 
to achieve it.  

 
 The Government will engage with interested parties on the best means to ensure 

that candidates and councillors are not required publicly to disclose their home 
address. Notwithstanding, it is important that home addresses are internally 
registered with monitoring officers, to help avoid conflicts of interest. 

 
3.11 Recommendation 3  
 Councillors should be presumed to be acting in an official capacity in their 

public conduct, including statements on publicly accessible social media. 
Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to permit local 
authorities to presume so when deciding upon code of conduct breaches.  

 
 The Government’s view is that it is for individual local authorities to consider if their 

code of conduct is adequate in addressing the issue of inappropriate use of social 
media.  

 
 As the Government outlined to Parliament in March 2021 on tackling intimidation in 

public life: ‘It is important to distinguish between strongly felt political debate on the 
one hand, and unacceptable acts of abuse, intimidation and violence on the other. 
British democracy has always been robust and oppositional. Free speech within the 

Page 10



 

law can sometimes involve the expression of political views that some may find 
offensive’: a point that the Government has recognised in a Department for 
Education policy paper. But a line is crossed when disagreement mutates into 
intimidation, which refuses to tolerate other opinions and seeks to deprive others 
from exercising their free speech and freedom of association.’  

 
 It is important to recognise that there is a boundary between an elected 

representative’s public life and their private or personal life. Automatically 
presuming (irrespective of the context and circumstances) that any comment is in 
an official capacity risks conflating the two. 

 
3.12 Recommendation 4  
 Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to state that a 

local authority’s code of conduct applies to a member when they claim to act, 
or give the impression they are acting, in their capacity as a member or as a 
representative of the local authority.  

  
 The Government agrees that local authority elected representatives should act in 

good faith in the public interest and not seek to influence decisions for personal 
gain, for malicious intent or to further the interests of any business or any other 
organisations which they may be affiliated with.  

 
 The Local Government Association have updated their own suggested code of 

conduct to state that the code applies when “[a member’s] actions could give the 
impression to a reasonable member of the public with knowledge of all the facts that 
[they] are acting as a [member]”.  

 
 It is for individual local authorities to ensure that their codes of conducts are 

regularly updated, comprehensive and fit for purpose. Elected members receive the 
necessary training to make them aware of their personal responsibilities in 
upholding the code. The Government will keep this matter under review but has no 
immediate plans to amend the regulations. 

 
3.13 Recommendation 5  
 The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 

should be amended to include: unpaid directorships; trusteeships; 
management roles in a charity or a body of a public nature; and membership 
of any organisations that seek to influence opinion or public policy.  

 
 The electorate must have confidence that the decisions of their elected 

representatives are being made in the best interests of the community they have 
been elected to serve. Unpaid roles may need to be declared if it is relevant to 
council business, and councillors should recuse themselves if necessary if 
discussions relate to private bodies, they are involved in.  

 
 The Government is mindful that councillors have a right to a private life, and rights 

of freedom of association outside their role as a councillor. It is frequently the case 
that people in public life have a complex pattern of interests and play a variety of 
roles with different types of organisations, including community interest groups and 
charities.  

 

Page 11



 

 The Government will keep this matter under review but has no immediate plans to 
amend the regulations. 

 
3.14 Recommendation 6 Local authorities should be required to establish a 

register of gifts and hospitality, with councillors required to record gifts and 
hospitality received over a value of £50 or totalling £100 over a year from a 
single source. This requirement should be included in an updated model code 
of conduct.  

 
 The Local Government Association’s suggested code of conduct published in 

January 2021 includes a requirement for members to “register… any gift or 
hospitality with an estimated value of at least £50”. However, it did not contain any 
requirements relating to the total value of gifts or hospitality received from the same 
source over a sustained period.  

 
 Local authorities have the autonomy to set gifts and hospitality requirements in their 

own codes of conduct. The Government accepts that there is merit in best practice 
guidance on the thresholds for gifts and hospitality and agrees that a register of gifts 
and hospitality should be publicly available. 

 
3.15 Recommendation 7  
 Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 should be repealed, and replaced with a 

requirement that councils include in their code of conduct that a councillor 
must not participate in a discussion or vote in a matter to be considered at a 
meeting if they have any interest, whether registered or not, “if a member of 
the public, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard the 
interest as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your consideration or 
decision-making in relation to the matter”.  

 
 Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011 requires that a councillor must not participate 

in a discussion or vote on a matter where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
in any matter to be considered at the meeting. Section 30(3) of the Localism Act 
2011 further provides that any relevant pecuniary interests of a councillor’s spouse 
or partner are considered as a disclosable pecuniary interest of the councillor.  

 
 The Committee’s report reflects concerns that the disclosable pecuniary interest 

arrangements infringe on the privacy of a councillor’s spouse or partner. Where 
there would be a potential conflict of interest, the principle of integrity requires that 
any such interests should nevertheless be declared and resolved.  

 
 The Government will keep this matter under review but has no immediate plans to 

repeal Section 31 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
3.16 Recommendation 8  
 The Localism Act 2011 should be amended to require that Independent 

Persons are appointed for a fixed term of two years, renewable once.  
 
 The Government does not accept this recommendation as appropriate for 

legislation on the basis that it would be likely to be unworkable. The Government’s 
view is that it would be more appropriately implemented as a best practice 
recommendation for local authorities.  

  

Page 12



 

 In principle, it may be attractive to limit the terms Independent Persons serve to 
keep their role and contribution “fresh” and avoid them becoming too closely 
affiliated with the overriding organisational culture. However, discussions with 
Monitoring Officers indicate that in practice most local authorities would likely find 
servicing this rate of turnover unachievable. There is frequently a small pool of 
people capable and willing to undertake the role, who also fit the stringent 
specifications of being amongst the electorate, having no political affiliation, no 
current or previous association with the council, and no friends or family members 
associated with the council.  

 
 When local authorities have found effective Independent Persons who demonstrate 

the capability, judgement and integrity required for this quite demanding yet unpaid 
role, it is understandable that they may be reluctant to place limitations on the 
appointment.   

 
3.17 Recommendation 9  
 The Local Government Transparency Code should be updated to provide that 

the view of the Independent Person in relation to a decision on which they are 
consulted should be formally recorded in any decision notice or minutes.  

 
 The Government does not agree with this. The Local Government Transparency 

Code is a statutory requirement to publish information; it does not regulate the 
content of councils’ minutes or decision notices.  

  
 The substantive policy suggestion has merit but will depend on circumstances. In 

cases where there is no case to answer from an unfounded complaint, it should not 
necessarily be a legal requirement to publish details of that unfounded complaint. 

 
3.18 Recommendation 10  
 A local authority should only be able to suspend a councillor where the 

authority’s Independent Person agrees both with the finding or a breach and 
that suspending the councillor would be a proportionate sanction. 

 
3.19 Recommendation 12 

Local authorities should be given the discretionary power to establish a 
decision-making standards committee with voting independent members and 
voting members from dependent parishes, to decide on allegations and 
impose sanctions.  
 

3.20 Recommendation 13  
Councillors should be given the right to appeal to the Local Government 
Ombudsman if their local authority imposes a period of suspension for 
breaching the code of conduct. 
 

3.21 Recommendation 14  
The Local Government Ombudsman should be given the power to investigate 
and decide upon an allegation of a code of conduct breach by a councillor, 
and the appropriate sanction, an appeal by a councillor who has had a 
suspension imposed. The Ombudsman’s decision should be binding on the 
local authority.  
 

 

Page 13



 

3.22 Recommendation 16  
Local authorities should be given the power to suspend councillors, without 
allowances, for up to six months. 
 
There is no provision in current legislation for a sanction to suspend a councillor 
found to have breached the code of conduct, and this was a deliberate policy 
decision by the Coalition Government at the time of the Localism Act 2011 to 
differentiate from the previous, failed Standards Board regime. The Standards 
Board regime allowed politically motivated and vexatious complaints and had a 
chilling effect on free speech within local government. These proposals would 
effectively reinstate that flawed regime.  
 
It would be undesirable to have a government quango to police the free speech of 
councillors; it would be equally undesirable to have a council body (appointed by 
councillors, and/or made up of councillors) sitting in judgment on the political 
comments of fellow councillors.  
 
On the rare occasions where notable breaches of the code of conduct have 
occurred, local authorities are not without sanctions under the current regime. 
Councillors can be barred from Cabinet, Committees, or representative roles, and 
may be publicly criticised. If the elected member is a member of a political group, 
they would also expect to be subject to party discipline, including being removed 
from that group or their party. Political parties are unlikely to reselect councillors 
who have brought their group or party into disrepute. All councillors are ultimately 
held to account via the ballot box. 
 
As part of the Government’s response to the Committee’s report on intimidation in 
public life, the Government recommended that every political party establish their 
own code of conduct for party members, including elected representatives.  
 
The Government will engage with sector representative bodies of councillors and 
officers of all tiers of local government to seek views on options to strengthen 
sanctions to address breaches of the code which fall below the bar of criminal 
activity and related sanctions but involve serious incidents of bullying and 
harassment or disruptive behaviour. 
 

3.23 Recommendation 11  
Local authorities should provide legal indemnity to Independent Persons if 
their views or advice are disclosed. The government should require this 
through secondary legislation if needed.  
 
The Government agrees in principle.  
 
Initial soundings with the sector indicate that some local authorities already provide 
legal indemnity for Independent Persons.  
 
The Government endorses providing legal indemnity for Independent Person as 
local authority best practice but does not currently see the need to require this 
through secondary legislation. 

 
 
 

Page 14



 

3.24 Recommendation 15  
The Local Government Transparency Code should be updated to require 
councils to publish annually: the number of code of conduct complaints they 
receive; what the complaints broadly relate to (e.g., bullying; conflict of 
interest); the outcome of those complaints, including if they are rejected as 
trivial or vexatious; and any sanctions applied.  
 
The Government believes that this is better addressed through the sector adopting 
as best practice a regular pattern of annual reporting by Standard Committees of 
the cases and complaints handled and would encourage this as best practice by the 
sector.  
 
The Government does not believe that there is a requirement to prescribe to local 
authorities the form and content of such Standard Committee annual reports. 

 
3.25 Recommendation 17  

The government should clarify if councils may lawfully bar councillors from 
council premises or withdraw facilities as sanctions. These powers should be 
put beyond doubt in legislation if necessary.   
 
The criminal law, overseen by the police and courts, provides for more appropriate 
and effective action against breaches of public order, for anti-social behaviour, and 
against harassment.  
 
The occasion where councils would seek to bar councillors from council premises 
are thought to be extremely rare. We will consider this further. 

 
3.26 Recommendation 18  

The criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests should be abolished.  
 
It is a criminal offence to fail to declare pecuniary interests, which acts as a strong 
deterrent against corruption.  
 
The Government does not agree with this recommendation, but rather believes the 
criminal offence of a non-disclosure of pecuniary interest to be a necessary and 
proportionate safeguard and deterrent against corruption.  
 
The high bar of police involvement has served to discourage politically motivated 
and unfounded complaints. 

 
3.27 Recommendation 20  

Section 27(3) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to state that parish 
councils must adopt the code of conduct of their principal authority, with the 
necessary amendments, or the new model code.  
 
The Government does not agree that this is necessary and has no plans to repeal 
Section 27(3) of the Localism Act 2011.  
 
The Government considers that the adoption of the principal authority’s code or the 
new model code is a matter for local determination.  
 

Page 15



 

There are merits in achieving consistency within principal authority areas to 
eliminate potential confusion amongst constituents and elected members but there 
may be instances where a parish council may want to add to the code of their 
principal authority to reflect local circumstances. 

 
 
3.28 Recommendation 21  

Section 28 (11) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to state that any 
sanction imposed on a parish councillor following the finding of a breach is 
to be determined by the relevant principal authority.  
 
The Government has no current plans to repeal Section 28 (11) of the Localism Act 
2011 but will give this matter further consideration. 

 
3.29 Recommendation 22  

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 
2015 should be amended to provide that disciplinary protections for statutory 
officers extend to all disciplinary action, not just dismissal.  
 
The three statutory officers in local government are the Monitoring Officer, the Head 
of Paid Service (Chief Executive) and the Chief Finance Officer (often referred to as 
the Section 151 Officer).  
 
Under the current disciplinary arrangements for statutory officers, any decision to 
dismiss a statutory officer must be taken by full council, following a hearing by a 
panel that must include at least two Independent Persons. The Committee consider 
that the disciplinary protections for statutory officers should be enhanced, by 
extending disciplinary protections to all disciplinary actions (such as suspension or 
formal warnings), not just dismissal.  
 
The Government agrees in principle with this recommendation and recognises this 
will be pertinent to Monitoring Officers who may not necessarily be afforded the 
same seniority in the organisational hierarchy of a local authority as the two other 
statutory officers (Head of Paid Service and the Section 151 Officer), and who may 
be subject to personal pressures when conducting high profile breach of conduct 
investigations.  
 
The Government will engage with sector representative bodies of all tiers of local 
government to seek views on amending the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 
(England)(Amendment) Regulations to provide disciplinary protections for statutory 
officers. 

 
3.30 Recommendation 23  

The Local Government Transparency Code should be updated to provide that 
local authorities must ensure that their whistleblowing policy specifies a 
named contact for the external auditor alongside their contact details, which 
should be available on the authority’s website.  
 
The Government agrees with the principle that openness is essential. 
 

Page 16



 

Most local authorities already publish their whistleblowing policy, procedures and a 
named contact on their websites, and Government is recommending that this is 
adopted as a best practice recommendation.  
 
The Government published the UK National Action Plan for Open Government 2021 
– 2023 in January 2022. This includes a commitment on local transparency. The 
Department for Levelling Up Housing and Communities (DLUHC) will work with the 
local government community to develop a set of specific actions to advance 
transparency in the sector. DLUHC will support local government to solidify their 
transparency policies and processes and encourage proactive publication of open 
data across councils. 

 
3.31 Recommendation 24  

Councillors should be listed as ‘prescribed persons’ for the purposes of the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998.  
 
Prescribed persons are individuals or organisations that a worker may approach 
outside their workplace to report suspected or known wrongdoing and still be 
protected by the rights afforded to them under whistleblowing legislation. They are 
prescribed by an order made by the Secretary of State (for Business, Energy and 
Industrial Strategy) for this purpose. A complete list of prescribed persons is 
available here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-
of-prescribedpeople-and-bodies--2.  
 
Local councillors would not meet the criteria of being external to an individual’s 
workplace in relation to matters affecting the council and could therefore not be 
considered as a ‘prescribed person’ for the purposes of the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 1998. Disclosures relating to local authorities can be made to the 
external auditor of the relevant authority, the Comptroller and Auditor General 
(National Audit Office), or a Member of Parliament.  
 
However, the Government recognises that this may provide a further check and 
balance against council corruption or wrongdoing and is open to further 
representations on the matter on how local accountability can be strengthened in 
this regard. 

4 Next Steps 

4.1 The Committee is asked to note the contents of the report. 

5 Views of the Policy Development Advisory Group and Outcome of 
Consultations 

5.1 Not applicable.  

6 Other Courses of Action Considered but Rejected 

6.1 Not applicable. 

7 Resource Consequences 

7.1 There are no resource or staffing consequences resulting from this report. 

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribedpeople-and-bodies--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/blowing-the-whistle-list-of-prescribedpeople-and-bodies--2


 

 

8 Legal Considerations and Implications 

8.1 The Council has a statutory duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 
and to have arrangements in place where allegations of code of conduct complaints 
can be investigated and decisions made. 

9 Risk Assessment 

9.1 Tougher sanctions may have helped to minimise the number of code of conduct 
complaints received but we have a newly revised complaints procedure that should 
help to streamline the process and keep us in accordance with the current 
legislation.  

10 Procurement implications 
 
10.1 There are no procurement implications stemming from this report.  

11.  Equalities and Human Rights implications / Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

11.1 There is no detrimental impact on any group, a full Equalities Impact Assessment is 
not needed. 

 
12 Environmental Implications 
 
12.1 There are no environmental implications from this report. 

13 Other Considerations 

13.1 There are no GDPR, Data Protection or Crime & Disorder consequences foreseen.

Page 18


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	9 Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities of Governments response to the Committee on Standards in Public Life's review of Local Government Ethical Standards published in January 2019.



